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CONSOLI DATI ON COAL COVPANY, : CONTEST PROCEEDI NG
Cont est ant :
V. : Docket No. PENN 93-231-R
: Order No. 3658846; 2/18/93
SECRETARY OF LABOR, :
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH : Dilworth M ne

ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , :
Respondent : M ne | D 36-04281
DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Rebecca J. Zul eski, Esq., Furbee, Anps, Webb &
Critchfield, Mrgantown, West Virginia for
Cont est ant ;
Anita Eve Wight, Esg., U. S. Departnment of Labor
Office of the Solicitor, Philadel phia,
Pennsyl vani a for Respondent.

Before: Judge Wi sberger
St atement of the Case

On March 18, 1993, the Operator, Consolidation Coal Conpany,
(Contestant) filed a Notice of Contest challenging the issuance
of Order No. 3658846 which alleges a violation of 30 CF. R O
75.364. Also, Contestant filed a Motion to Expedite. The issues
rai sed by the pleadings were generally discussed with counsel for
both parties in a tel ephone conference call on March 19, 1993,
and again on March 22, 1993, at which tinme, based on repre-
sentations of counsel, this case was scheduled for a one-day
hearing on April 15, 1993. At the hearing held on that date in
Washi ngt on, Pennsyl vani a, Robert W Newhouse, Robert G Santee,
James S. Conrad Jr., and Eugene Zvol enski testified for the
Secretary (Respondent). The hearing was continued on
May 13, 1993, in Mrgantown, West Virginia, at which tine
Louis Barletta Jr., Patrick N. Wse, Janes E. Hunyady and
Gary J. Klinefelter testified for Contestant. At the conclusion
of the hearing, the parties requested an opportunity to sumnrt
written briefs, and were so granted this right. Contestant filed
its Post Hearing Brief on June 15, 1993. Respondent filed
Fi ndi ngs of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Brief in Support on
June 17, 1993.
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Stipul ations

1. Consol i dati on Coal Company is the owner and operator of the
Dilworth Mne, which is the subject of this proceeding.

2. Consol idation Coal Conpany and the Dilworth M ne are subject
to the jurisdiction of the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, as anmended, 30 U.S.C. 0O 801, et seq.

3. The Adm ni strative Law Judge has jurisdiction over this
matter pursuant to Section 105 of the Act.

4. The subj ect order, nunber 3658846, was issued pursuant to
section 104(d)(2) of the Act, and was properly served by Robert
Santee, a duly authorized representative of the Secretary of
Labor, upon an agent of the Respondent, Pat Wse, on February 18,
1993, at the Dilworth M ne.

5. The assessment of a civil penalty in this proceeding wll
not affect the Operator's ability to continue in business.

6. Abat enent of the condition cited and listed in the Order was
tinmely.

7. A copy of the subject Oder is authentic and may be adnitted
into evidence for the purpose of establishing issuance, but not
for the purpose of establishing the truthful ness or rel evancy of
any of the statenents asserted therein

8. Order No. 3658846 states in pertinent part:

There was water present ranging up to 11 inches deep
for the width of the entry beginning [sic] just inby
survey spad 73+50 (between the No. 46 and the No. 47
crosscut) and continuing inby for a distance of
approximately 50 feet, exact distance could not be
nmeasured at this time, in the 9-D (023) | ongwal
section No. 4 intake entry (future 10-D tailgate
entry). The presence of such water presents a very
possi bl e slipping and/or tripping hazard due to the
possibility of debris consisting of crib blocks, cenent
bl ocks, rock, |oose coal, nud etc., under such water
accurul ations. This entry is required to be exam ned
weekly by a certified mne exam ner, who is an acting
agent of the operator, and the | ast date observed,
outby this area, was 02-17-93 JLF 8:22 p.m There was
1 violation issued during the |ast inspection period
from10-01-92 to 12-31-92 of 30 C F.R 0O 75.364(d).

9. Order No. 3658846 alleges a violation of 30 C.F. R 0O 75. 364.
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I. Findings of Fact

1. Contestant's Dilworth M ne experiences, on a regul ar basis,
accumrul ati ons of water on the mne floor. To control this

probl em Contestant installed a series of pneunatic punps to punp
the water out of the mne

2. On February 18, 1993, the bleeder entry (the future tailgate
entry) for the 10-D longwall panel in the 9-D East Section
extended 8,000 feet, and was approximately 16 feet wi de.

3. On February 10, 1993 the longwall face in the 9-D East
Section was |ocated at spad 31+50.

4., On February 18, 1993, the bl eeder entry outby the face was
desi gnat ed an escapeway. The working section did not extend inby
the face, and the bl eeder entry was not designated an escapeway

i nby the face.

5. The bl eeder entry inby the face is traveled weekly by mners
to fire-boss. Also mners travel there regularly to service and
repair the punps.

Il. Further Findings of Fact and Di scussion

Robert G Santee, an MSHA inspector, testified that on
February 10, 1993, he inspected the 9-D East Section at
Contestant's Dilworth Mne. Between the 19th and 20th crosscuts
in the No. 4 intake entry (bl eeder entry) he observed water up to
14 inches deep. He indicated that he was unable to see the
bottom of the water as it was nmuddy. He al so observed a 4 inch
drainage line, and a 3 inch air line going under the water. He
said that he also suspected the presence of other material in the
water as, while travelling up the entry (inby) to the point in
guestion, he had observed crib blocks, old pipeline, |oose rock
and coal. He issued a citation, alleging a violation of
30 CF.R 0O 75.364, and informed Contestant's representatives
that he would allow until 8:00 a.m, February 12, for the
violation to be abated.

Santee did not return until February 17. He indicated that
when he returned there was nore water present. He told
Contestant's representatives that he was going to i ssue a Section
104(b) order. Kenny Boyle, the |ongwall coordinator, and J.J.
Pohira, the punper foreman, informed himthat on February 12
wat er had been punped out. Santee then term nated the origina
citation, and issued a Section 104(b) order because Contestant
had all owed the water to return. Upon discussion with his
supervi sor, Santee voi ded the Section 104(b) order, and extended
the abatenment of the original citation until February 18.
According to Santee, when he returned on February 18, he observed
2 or 3 mners punping water in the area between the 19th and 20th
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crosscuts. He also observed that crib bl ocks were being renoved
fromthe water inby.

According to Santee, at spad 73+50 he observed an
accunmul ati on of water that he indicated was "al nost identical"
(Tr. 69) to that to which he had previously observed between
crosscuts 19 and 20. He indicated that the water went fromrib
to rib, and extended 50 feet. He indicated that the water was
nmuddy, (Footnote 1) and he could not see through the water. Wen
he entered the water he went as far as he felt safe. He put a
ruler in the water until it hit the nud on the bottom and noted
that the depth was 11 inches. He took only one neasurenent.

Santee al so observed footprints on the floor at the outby
side of the water accunulation. He also indicated that there was
a swag at Spad 72+10, 140 feet outby, and at a | ower elevation
than the water accurul ation. According to Santee, the presence
of a punp in the swag indicated that water had been punped out of
t he swag.

At spad 73+50, two pipes led into the water accunul ation
One pi pe was four inches in diameter, and the other was three
inches in dianeter. These pipes ran the entire length of the
entry, and were placed on the right side of the entry inby.
Aside fromthese itens, nothing was protruding fromthe water
nor were there any cenent bl ocks, crib blocks, |oose coal, or
rocks observed. Santee stated that he believed that there were
obj ects under the water, as he had observed crib bl ocks and
cenent bl ocks at various |ocations when he had wal ked the entry
inby earlier that day. According to Santee, there were
"numerous” crib blocks, 6 inches by 6 inches by 30 inches in
| ength throughout the entry. (Tr. 86). Also, according to
Santee, he saw al um num and steel pipeline joints, 3 to 4 inches
in diameter, and 10 to 15 inches in length, around the punp in
the swag outby spad 73+50. Santee said that the area of water
bet ween crosscuts 19 and 20, (Footnote 2) contained steel bands
that were 3/4 inch wide 16th of an inch thick, and between 4 and
6 feet in length. He said that it is very easy to trip on such
itens.

Santee opined that if a person had entered water at Spad
73+50 he could have been injured by slipping or tripping on
submer ged obj ects such as pipes, crib blocks, cenment bl ocks,
| oose rock or nmud.
1Eugene P. Zvol enski a niner who acconpanied Santee on his
i nspection described the water at 73+50 as cloudy, and said that
he coul d not see where he was wal ki ng.
2The area at crosscuts 19 and 20 is approxi mately 4,300 feet from
Spad 73+50.



~1412

Santee issued a Section 104(d) order alleging a violation of
30 CF.R 0O 75.364(Footnote 3). Section 75.364, supra as
pertinent, provides that at |east every 7 days an exami nation
shal |l be made, and that hazardous conditions "shall be corrected
i medi ately."

I11. Analysis
A. Violation of 30 C.F.R [0 75.364

The key issue for resolution is whether, on the date of
Santee's inspection, the accunul ation of water in the cited area
constituted a hazardous condition which had not been corrected
i mredi ately.

Contestant did not inpeach the testinony of Santee regarding
his observations of the water accunulation. Patrick M Wse, who
acconpani ed Santee in his capacity as Contestant's Safety
I nspector, did not contradict Santee's testinobny with regard to
t he depth, and extent of the accunulation. Nor did he contradict
the testi nony of Respondent's witnesses that the water was cloudy
or rnmuddy, which prevented the bottom from bei ng seen

According to Santee he concluded that the accunul ati on was
present for sonme tine because the area between the swags was dry,
and crusted, and because he had observed a water-discoloration
line 36 inches high, approximtely 20 feet inby spad 73+50. On
the other hand, Louis Barletta, who was the superintendent of the
m ne during the period in issue, indicated that it is not
possible to tell the age of an accumul ati on of water sol ey by
| ooking at a water-discoloration Iine. He opined that water can
accurul ate quite quickly.

The record does not contain any testinony from any person
havi ng personal know edge of the length of time the accumul ation
of water had existed prior to Santee's inspection. Resort thus
is made to an analysis of the docunentary evidence. The
docunent ary evi dence indicates, prior to Santee's inspection, the
presence of water close to the cited area. |In an Exam nations of
Enmer gency Escapeways, Facilities, Air Courses, and Bl eeders
I ncluding Tests for Methane, ("Wekly Exam nation Book"), on
February 17, 1993 at the 10-D tailgate, "15 xc to backend" it is
noted as foll ows under the heading "hazards noted": "H20 73+80"
The following is set forth under the heading "action taken":
"reported". (Contestant's Exhibit C. The Punper's Report
(Contestant's Exhibit D), wherein punpers note the condition of
punps, and the water level in the area of various punps,
3The pertinent |anguage, set forth in Section 75.364, supra was
previously found at 30 C.F. R 0O 75.305, and had been revised
effective August 16, 1992, 57 F.R 20914 (March 15, 1992)).
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i ndicates that, on February 15, 1993, at the punps |located at
spad 72+20 the water was "at strainer"” (sic). Barletta explained
that this indicates a water depth of approximately 2 to 3 inches.
The sane comments are found in the reports for the midnight to
8.00 a.m shift on February 17, 1993. 1In the next shift, at the
punp | ocation 72+20 the water level is noted as 12" at 57+20 it
is noted as 10", and at 36+90, 20 xc, the water level "noted as
"strainer" (sic). Also, the Punper's Report for this shift
contains the following remarks "told E.B. that punpe needs to
start punp inby in 10-D tail for 12/18/93" (sic).

Consi dering the depth of the water, the fact that it was
cl oudy or nmuddy, the extent of the accumul ation, the presence of
two pipes in the water, and the fact that nmud and rocks, occur
naturally on the floor of mnes, | conclude that the accunul ation
of water cited by Santee constituted a hazardous condition that
shoul d have been reported.

Wthin the franework of the above evidence | conclude that
t he hazardous water accunul ati on had not been corrected by
Contestant prior to the time it was noted by Santee. | thus
conclude that Contestant herein did violate Section 75. 364,
supr a.

B. Significant and Substantia

Santee characterized the violation he cited as significant
and substantial. He defined "significant and substantial" as a
condition which would cause a serious injury before it could be
corrected. He opined that in the situation presented herein, an
injury was reasonably likely to have occurred, taking into
account the presence of water, and the l|ikelihood that it
cont ai ned debris. This conclusion was based upon his observation
of debris in the area of crosscuts 19 and 20, which was 4, 300
feet outby the area cited.

On the other hand, Barletta indicated that he was not aware
of any slipping or tripping injuries in water up to 12 inches
that occurred from January 1988 to February 1993. Patrick M
W se, who was Contestant's Safety inspector during the period in
i ssue, testified to the same effect. He also opined that the
accunul ation at issue did not constitute a hazard, as it was
possible to travel in the cited area without slipping. He said
that he had travelled there in the past w thout slipping.

Barl etta indicated, in essence, that mners are aware of the need
to walk carefully in water that is nuddy or cloudy, and mners
are aware of the placenent of pipes in the water and their

| ocation. He also indicated that by using a stick as a guide, it
is possible to safely traverse water that can not been seen

t hr ough.
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In eval uati ng whether the violation herein was significant
and substantial, | disregard the erroneous definition proffered
by Santee, and instead refer to established case | aw.

I n anal yzi ng whether the facts herein establish that the
violation is significant and substantial, | take note of the
recent Decision of the Comm ssion in Southern Chio Coal Conpany,
13 FMSHRC 912, (1991), wherein the Commission reiterated the
el enents required to establish a significant and substantia
viol ation as foll ows:

We also affirmthe judge's conclusion that the
vi ol ati on was of a significant and substantial nature.
A violation is properly designated as significant and

substantial "if, based on the particular facts
surroundi ng that violation, there exists a reasonable
i kelihood that the hazard contributed to will result
in an injury or illness of a reasonably serious
nature."” Cenent Division, National Gypsum Co.

3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981). In Mathies Coal Co., 6

FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the Conm ssion expl ai ned:

In order to establish that a violation
of a mandatory standard is significant and
substanti al under National Gypsumthe
Secretary must prove: (1) the underlying
violation of a mandatory safety standard

(2) a discrete safety hazard -- that is, a
measure of danger to safety -- contributed to
by the violation; (3) a reasonable |ikelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in
an injury; and (4) a reasonable |ikelihood
that the injury in question will be of a

reasonably serious nature.

See al so Austin Power Co. v. Secretary, 861 F.2d
99, 103-04 (5th Cir. 1988), aff'g, 9 FMSHRC 2015, 2021
(Decenber 1987) (approving Mathies criteria). The
third element of the Mathies formula "requires that the
Secretary establish a reasonable |ikelihood that the
hazard contributed to will result in an event in which
there is an injury" (U S. Steel Mning Co., 6 FVMSHRC
1834, 1836 (August 1984)), and also that the likelihood
of injury be evaluated in terms of continued normal
m ning operations (U S. Steel Mning Co., Inc. 6 FVMSHRC
1573, 1574 (July 1984); See: also Halfway, Inc., 8
FMSHRC 8, 12 (January 1986).

(Sout hern GChio, supra at 916-917).

I have already found that Contestant did violate
Section 75.364, supra, and that, in essence, the violation herein
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did contribute to the hazard of slipping or tripping. In
evaluating the third elenment of the Mathies formula, | take

cogni zance of the following facts: the depth of the water; the
fact that the bottom could not be seen through the water; the
presence of 2 pipes in the water; the uncontradicted testinony of
Janmes Sanmuel Conrad Jr., an MSHA I nspector who inspected the site
on February 7, 1993, and observed, in the area cited, planks and
crib blocks lying on the floor in the center of the entry on the
ri ght side; (Footnote 4) and Conrad's uncontradicted testinony
that within 20 feet inby of Spad 73+50 he had observed a canvas
lying on the floor covered with nmud which made it extremely
slippery when wet. Wthin the above franmework, | conclude that
it has been established that an injury producing event i.e.
slipping or tripping, was reasonably likely to have occurred.

al so conclude, due to the nature of the itens in water, that
shoul d a person have tripped or slipped, there was a reasonable
likelihood of an injury of a reasonably serious nature. Thus, |
conclude that it has been established that a violation herein was
signi ficant and substantial . (Footnote 5)

C. Unwar rant abl e Fail ure

According to Santee, the violation herein resulted from
Contestant's unwarrantable failure. Santee defined
"unwarrantable failure" as a situation where an operator knew or
shoul d have known of a violative condition, and did not take
corrective action. In this connection, he referred to the
simlar accumul ati on which he had cited on February 10, in an
area out by, and concl uded that accordingly, Contestant should
have been nade aware of hazardous water conditions. Al so, he
i ndi cated that an outby swag at a higher el evation had been
punped out. In this connection, reference is made to the entry
in the Punper's Report of the second shift on February 17, 1993
as follows: "Told E.B. that punpe needs to start punps inby 10-D
tail for 2/18/93." (sic)
4Conrad said that he observed 5 crib blocks, and 7 planks
approximately 20 feet inby Spad 73+50.
5The issue for resolution is not whether Santee's determ nation
that the violation was significant and substantial finds support
in the factors he took into account, but rather a decision on the
i ssue of significant and substantial nust be based upon all the
evi dence presented at a de novo hearing on this issue.

Accordi ngly, the observations of Conrad, although not known to
Sant ee when he made his determ nation, constitute inportant

evi dence to be taken into account in analyzing the issue of
signi ficant and substanti al

In maki ng a de novo determ nation whether the record
establishes unwarrantable failure on the part of Contestant, |
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consider the following facts: the depth and extent of the
accumrul ati on observed by Santee; the fact that a sinilar
accunul ati on had been cited on February 10; the |ack of factua
evi dence indicating that the accunul ation at issue had occurred
at a point of time close to Santee's inspection which would not
have al |l owed Contestant sufficient tinme to have punped it out
before Santee's inspection;(Footnote 6) and the |ack of any

evi dence on Contestant part explaining why the area in question
has not been punped out. Wthin the context of these facts,
conclude that it has been established that the violation herein
was as a result of aggravated conduct on the part of Contestant
and, hence constituted an unwarrantable failure (See Enery M ning
Cor p. ,

9 FMSHRC 1997, 2004 (1987)).(Footnote 7)

ORDER

It is ORDERED that the Notice of Contest be DI SM SSED, and
the ORDER be affirmed as witten.

Avram Wi sber ger

Adm ni strative Law Judge
6l find that Barletta's opinion that such an accunul ati on can
occur quickly is of little probative valve in establishing how
| ong the accunul ati on observed by Santee had actual |y existed.
71t appears to be part of Contestant's argunent that, prior to
Oct ober 1992, MSHA had an unwritten policy that an accunul ation
of water would not be cited in bleeders unless the water exceeded
hi p boot height; in the return entries unless the water exceeded
knee height; and in intake entries unless the water was higher
than 15 1/2 inch boots. Hunyady indicated that he was told of
such a policy by various inspectors when they cane across water
accurrul ati ons when he acconpani ed them on i nspections subsequent
to 1986 or 1987. | do not find much nerit to this argunent.
First of all, there is no evidence that Contestant's personnel in
charge of punping water accunul ati ons were aware of such MSHA
"policy". Nor there is any evidence that such persons mneasured
or wal ked into the water accunul ation at issue and decided, in
reliance upon past MSHA "policy", not to punp the accunul ations,
as being below the I evel of hip boots.
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Di stri bution:

Rebecca J. Zul eski, Esq., Furbee, Anps, Webb & Critchfield, 5000
Hampt on Center, Suite 4, Morgantown, West Virginia 26505
(Certified Mil)

Anita Eve Wight, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S. Departnent
of Labor, 3535 Market Street, 14480 Gat eway Buil di ng,
Phi | adel phia, PA 19104 (Certified Mil)
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